NO. 33537-2-III

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILL T. PAYNE,

Appellant/Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN STACY RUEGSEGGER and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER,
Respondents/Defendants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT WILL T. PAYNE

Michael J. Beyer, WSBA #9109 Attorney for Appellant

810 South Cannon Street Spokane, Washington 99204-4353 (509) 499-1877

A.	ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
B.	ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR1
C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
D.	STANDARD OF REVIEW7
E.	ARGUMENT10
F.	CONCLUSION2

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases

<u>Alexander & Alexander v. Wohlman</u> , 19 Wn.App. 670, 578 P.2d 530 (1978)
Am. Universal Inc. Co. v. Ranson, 59 Wn.2d 811, 370 P.2d 867 (1962)7
Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 799 P.2d 250 (1990)
Badgett v. Security State Bank, 116 Wn.2d 563, 807 P.2d 356 (1991)16
Bailie Communications Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems, Inc., 61 Wn.App. 151, 810 P.2d 12 (1991)
Balise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P.2d 966 (1963)
Barker v. Advanced Silicon Materials, LLC., 131 Wn.App. 616, 128 P.3d 633, review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1015 (2006)9
Berg v. Hudesman, 115 Wn.2d 657, 801 P.2d 222 (1990)13
Browning v. Johnson, 70 Wn.2d 145, 422 P.2d 314 (1967)14
Brother's Intern. Corp. V. Nat'l Vacuum & Sewing Machine Stores, Inc. 9 Wn.App. 154, 159, 510 P.2d 1162(1973)
Buyken v. Ertner, 33 Wn.2d 334, 205P.2d 628(1949)13
CKP, Inc. v. GRS Constr. Co., 63 Wn.App. 601, 821 P.2d 63 (1991)17
Cox v. O'Brien, 150 Wn.App. 24, 206 P.3d 682 (2009)20
Crown Plaza v. Synapse Software, 87 Wn.App. 495, 962 P.2d 824 (1997).17
Devine v. Dept. of Lic., 126 Wn.App. 941, 110 P.3d 237 (2005)22
<u>Dragt v. Dragt/DeTray</u> , 139 Wn.App. 560, 161 P.3d 473 (2007), <u>review denied</u> , 163 Wn.2d 1047 (2008)20

Ellensburg v. Larson Fruit Co., Inc., 66 Wn.App. 246, 865 P.2d 225 (1992)
<u>Felsman v. Kessler</u> , 2 Wn.App. 493, 468 P.2d 691 (1970)8
<u>Geonerco, Inc. v. Grand Ridge Properties IV, L.L.C.</u> , 146 Wn.App. 459, 191 P.3d 76 (2008)
Guenther v. Fariss, 66 Wn.App. 691, 833 P.2d 417 (1992), review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1028 (1993)
<u>Hedges v. Hurd</u> , 47 Wn.2d 683, 289 P.2d 706 (1955)12
<u>Hubbell v. Ward</u> , 40 Wn.2d 779, 246 P.2d 468 (195211,12
Huber v. Coast Inv. Co., 30 Wn.App. 804, 638 P.2d 609 (1981)21
<u>In re Marriage of Tang</u> , 57 Wn.App. 648, 789 P.2d 118 (1990)9
Keeter v. John Griffith, Inc., 40Wn.2d 128,130, 241 P.2d 160(1994)14
<u>King v. Rice</u> , 146 Wn.App. 662, 191 P.3d 946 (2008), <u>review denied</u> , 165 Wn.2d 1049 (2009)14
King v. Riveland, 125 Wn.2d 500, 886 P.2d 160 (1994)11,14
<u>Kruse v. Hemp</u> , 121 Wn.2d 715, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993)11,12
<u>LaPlante v. State</u> , 85 Wn.2d 154, 531 P.2d 299 (1975)8
<u>Lopez v. Reynoso</u> , 129 Wn.App. 165, 118 P.3d 398 (2005)
<u>Lyster v. Metzger</u> , 68 Wn.2d 216, 412 P.2d 340 (1966)9
McMahan & Baker, Inc. v. Continental Cas. Co., 68 Wn.App. 537, 843 P.2d 1133 (1993)
Mehelich v. Mehelich, 7 Wn.App. 545, 500 P.2d 779 (1972)21
Morris v. McNichol, 83 Wn.2d 491, 59 P.2d 7 (1974)7,8
Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994)
Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc., 160 Wn.2d 173, 157 P.3d 847 (2007)

<u>Niemann v. Vaughn Community Church</u> , 154 Wn.2d 365, 113 P.3d 463 (2005)
Nishikawa v. United States Eagle High, L.L.C., 138 Wn.App. 841, 158 P.3d 1265, (2007), review denied, 163 Wn.2d 1020 (2008)
Noah v. Montford, 77 Wn.2d 459, 463 P.2d 129 (1969)
Northwest Independent Forest Mfrs. v. Dept. of Labor & Industries, 78 Wn.App. 707, 899 P.2d 6 (1995)
Olympic S.S. Co. V. Centinenial Inc. Co., 117 Wn2d 37,51,811 P.2d 673 (1991)
<u>Preston v. Duncan</u> , 55 Wn.2d 678, 349 P.2d 605 (1960)8
<u>Pybas v. Paolino</u> , 73 Wn.App. 393, 869 P.2d 427 (1994)9
<u>Quandrant Corp. v. American States Ins.</u> , 154 Wn.2d 165, 110 P.3d 773 (2005)
<u>Richardson v. Taylor Land & Livestock Co.</u> , 25 Wn.2d 518, 171 P.2d 703 (1946)
Robinson v. City of Seattle, 119 Wn.2d 34, 830 P.2d 318, cert. denied, 506 U.S. 1028 (1992)
Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 113 Wn.2d 154, 776 P.2d 676 (1989)9
<u>Saldin Sec., Inc. v. Snohomish Cy.,</u> 134 Wn.2d 288, 949 P.2d 370 (1998)22
<u>St. John's Med. Ctr. v. DSHS</u> , 110 Wn.App. 51, 38 P.3d 383, <u>review denied</u> , 146 Wn.2d 1023 (2002)
State v. Dawkins, 71 Wn.App. 902, 863 P.2d 124 (1993)9
State v. Robinson, 79 Wn.App. 386, 902 P.2d 652 (1995)9
Thoma v. C. J. Montag & Sons, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 20, 337 P.2d 1052 (1959)8
Weems v. North Franklin School District, 109 Wn.App. 767, 37 P.3d 354 (2002)9
Williams v. Seattle Sch. Distr., 97 Wn.2d 215, 643 P.2d 426 (1982)22,25

<u>Wilson v. Steinbach,</u> 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982)
Wilson v. Westinghouse Elec. Corp., 85 Wn.2d 78, 530 P.2d 298 (1975).19
Young v. Young, 164 Wn.2d 477, 191 P.3d 1258 (2008)20
<u>Zuver v. Airtouch Communications, Inc.</u> , 153 Wn.2d 293, 103 P.3d 753 (2004)
Other Case Law
<u>Subin v. Goldsmith</u> , 224 F.2d 753 (2d Cir. 1955)8
<u>United States v. Logan Co.</u> , 147 F.Supp. 330 (W.D.Pa. 1957)8
Constitutional Provisions
U.S.Const., amdt. 5
U.S.Const., amdt. 14
Wash.St.Const., Art. 4, §6
Court Rules
CR 56©
CR 56(e)
CR 59(a)23
CR 59(a)(1)23,24
CR 59(a)(3)23
CR 59(a)(8)23

1 7

CR 59(a)(9),23,24
CR59(b)24
RAP 12.2
Treatises
Restatement of Contracts (1932), § 7514
Restatement (Third) of Restitution and Unjust Enrichment, § 1 & comm. b
25 DeWolf & Allen, "Contract Law and Practice," <u>Wash. Prac.</u> , § 1.1 (2007 & Supp. 2008-2009)
25 DeWolf & Allen, § 5.216
25 "Contract Law and Prac. § 1.1
WPI 302-11

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The superior court of Spokane County, State of Washington, erred in entering its oral decision on March 13, 2015, in cause no. 14-2-01944-5, wherein defendants' motion for summary judgment [CP 16-17, 18-25, 26-53, 54-66] was granted by the court, while plaintiff's crossmotion for summary judgment including equitable theories of recovery [CP 187-96, 197-205, 206-07], was denied and, thus, depriving any plaintiff of any form of remedy whatsoever, either legal or equitable, as against the defendants which grounds for recovery were raised and fully outlined by plaintiff in his briefing and supporting affidavit. [Id.; RP 2-7].
- 2. The superior court of Spokane County, State of Washington, in turn erred in entering its "order granting defendants' motion for summary judgment" on April 3, 2015, in cause no. 14-2-01944-5, wherein plaintiff's complaint was ultimately denied. [CP 208-10, 232-34].
- 3. The superior court of Spokane County, State of Washington, erred in entering its "order denying reconsideration" on May 15, 2015, with regard to plaintiff's motion for the same [CP 211-15, 221-24] in cause no. 14-2-01944-5. [CP 228-29, 235-36].

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether the challenged decisions of the superior court in cause

no. 14-2-01944-5 are subject to reversal insofar as they violated the tenets of CR 56©, by way of the improper grant of defendants' motion for summary judgment [CP 16-17, 18-25, 26-53, 54-66], while plaintiff's cross-motion for summary judgment [CP 187-96, 197-205, 206-07], was in turn erroneously denied thus depriving plaintiff of any form of recovery or remedy as against the defendants? [Assignment of Error nos. 1 and 2].

2. Whether the superior court further erred and abused its discretion on May 5, 2015, in denying plaintiff's CR 59(a) motion of reconsideration? [Assignment of Error no. 3].

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter concerns the issue whether the plaintiff and appellant herein, WILL T. PAYNE, is entitled to some form of remedy or monetary recovery regarding his sale of certain real estate located in the State of Alaska which he sold to, and was purchased by the defendants and respondents herein, JOHN STACY and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER, husband and wife, but upon which said purchasers eventually chose, due to their unrelated financial woes, to renege upon said bargained-for agreement while, in turn, refusing to return possession and title to said property to Mr. PAYNE, and for which the superior court on summary judgment declined to intervene or provide appellant with any remedy whatsoever.

1. Factual Background. On February 5, 2008, at the office of

defendant, JOHN STACY RUEGSEGGER, the parties executed a document entitled "addendum" to a real estate purchase agreement for the purchase of real property, situated in an area known as Whale Passage, Petersburg District, Alaska, and legally described as "Lot 9-B, B Portion of lot 9, Block 13, ASLS 2000-26 as shown on Plat no. 2000-20 Petersburg Recording District, Alaska," for the sum of \$60,000.00 with a down payment of \$12,000.00, and the remainder payable in certified funds for 15 years at a rate of 9% interest. [CP 8, 187, 188, 189]. The agreement provided in addition that the property was being sold "as is" including power at the property line as shown. [CP 188, 191]. However, all payments which were made by respondents were in cash with the exception of the down payment. [CP 188].

In the formation of the agreement, Mr. RUEGSEGGER read from the corresponding plat document and dictated the details of the sale. [CP 188, 191]. At no time since execution of this sale on February 5, 2008, did either respondent notify Mr. PAYNE either in writing or orally that they were unhappy or displeased with the purchase of the subject land. [CP 188]. In April 2008, the respondents accompanied Mr. PAYNE so as to view the property and, during which time, Ms. RUEGSEGGER took pictures of the property. [CP 188, 192-93]. Once again, they seemed pleased with their purchase, and made periodic payments of \$500.00 towards the balance owed. [CP 188, 189].

Later on, however, the appellant was informed by Mr.

RUEGSEGGER that his business was exercising financial problems and, also, money was needed for legal expenses to assist his son in a custody battle with the later's ex-spouse. [CP 188]. In this regard, the respondent advised that he would have to resell the property purchased from Mr. PAYNE, the appellant herein. [CP 188]. The respondents then got behind in payments. [CP 188]. Mr. RUEGSEGGER once more represented to Mr. PAYNE that he intended to sell the land at issue and a for sale sign was later posted on the property which contained the respondent's name and business phone number. [CP 188].

Respondents continued to exercise dominion and exclusive control over the property and, at some point, Mr. RUEGSEGGER represented to appellant that he and his sons could build a cabin on the land. [CP 189]. Again, there is power to the property. [CP 188, 189, 190]. The is also access to a water supply. [CP 189].

On May 11, 2009, Mr. PAYNE executed a statutory warranty deed transferring title to the property to respondents. [CP 189, 194]. Eventually, however, respondents fell behind in their payments [CP 189], and Mr. PAYNE was forced to file suit to recovery the outstanding sum owed him the RUEGSEGGERs, after having notified them of their delinquency on numerous occasions and having exercised the utmost patience under the circumstances. [CP 1-8, 189]. Ultimately, respondents' chose to repudiate their contract with him. [CP 1-8, 189].

2. Procedural History. On May 29, 2014, Mr. PAYNE filed suit

against the RUEGSEGGERs. [CP 1-8]. In response, the latter answered denying the existence of any enforceable contract between the parties and counterclaiming for the return of payments, et al., based upon their claims of deception, fraud and misrepresentation involving the actual nature and character of the property, as well as its alleged "inflated" value in contrast to its actual fair market value of \$48,000.00. [CP 13-15].

On January 16, 2015, the defendants filed a motion for summary judgment claiming, inter alia, that they had been "duped" into purchasing the Alaska property as being a viable short-term investment and, further, that the sale failed to satisfy the legal requirements so as to constitute a valid real estate transaction, nor was the plaintiff, Mr. PAYNE, entitled to file suit against them insofar as there was no "acceleration clause" in the parties' agreement and said balance of \$48,000.00 was not due for 15 years in terms of the contract. [CP 16-17, 26-53, 54-64, 123-27]. Mr. PAYNE responded by filing a cross-motion for summary judgment [CP 206-07], a supporting affidavit and exhibits [CP 187-96], and a memorandum in opposition to defendants' motion for summary judgment. [CP 197-205]. Essentially, the gravamen of his argument was that the RUEGSEGGERs' claims of fraud and dissatisfaction with the parties' agreement were both contrived and disingenuous. Rather, the parties had an enforceable real estate contract [CP 199-200, said agreement was supported by adequate consideration, and was not illusory as claimed by the defendants [CP 200-02], and the defendants' actions constituted a breach of contract [CP 20203] entitling the plaintiff to file suit regardless of any absence of an "acceleration clause." [CP 203]. The plaintiff further pointed out that, at a minimum, he should be afforded a remedy in equity if the court should determine there was no enforceable contract. [CP 204-05]

On March 11, 2015, these opposing summary judgment motions were heard by the superior court. [RP 1, et seq.]. Following oral argument, the court ruled there was no "appropriate real estate contract" in this case, nor was there any acceleration clause requiring the defendants to make payments until the 2023 deadline." [RP 2-4]. Consequently, defendants motion to dismiss Mr. PAYNE's suit was granted. [CP 4]. In turn, the court denied the later's cross-motion for summary judgment indicating that he had no right of recovery "on any equitable basis." [RP 5]. A order to this effect was entered by the superior court on April 3, 2015. [CP 210-10].

Thereafter, on April 13, 2015, Mr. PAYNE filed a motion for reconsideration under Rule 59 of the Washington Civil Rules for Superior Court [CR]. [CP 211-15, 221-24]. Defendants opposed the motion. [CP 216-20]. On May 15, 2015, the court denied Mr. PAYNE's motion. [CP 228-29]. On the day prior, the court granted the defendants' motion to dismiss their counterclaim without prejudice.

This appeal followed. [CP 230-36]. Additional facts are set forth below as they relate to a particular issue presented herein.

D. STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Standards governing review of a ruling and decision entered on summary judgment [CR 56(c)]. In reviewing the propriety of a decision on summary judgment, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the superior court. See, Mountain Park Homeowners Ass'n v. Tydings, 125 Wn.2d 337, 341, 883 P.2d 1383 (1994). The record on appeal consists of the documents that were considered by the trial court in making its ruling with the exception that the reviewing court may take judicial notice of other matters as well. See generally, Am. Universal Inc. Co. v. Ranson, 59 Wn.2d 811, 815-16, 370 P.2d 867 (1962).

In accordance with Rule 56(c) of the Washington Civil Rules for Superior Court [CR], summary judgment will be entered when the pleadings, together with the evidentiary facts submitted, demonstrate there is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute and the moving party is entitle to judgment as a matter of law. Wilson v. Steinbach, 98 Wn.2d 434, 437, 656 P.2d 1030 (1982). A material fact is one upon which the litigation depends in whole or in part. Atherton Condo. Apartment-Owners Ass'n Bd. of Dirs. v. Blume Dev. Co., 115 Wn.2d 506, 516, 799 P.2d 250 (1990); Morris v. McNichol, 83 Wn.2d 491, 494, 519 P.2d 7 (1974). All facts submitted, and all reasonable inferences therefrom, are to be considered in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Summary judgment will only be granted when reasonable persons could

reach but one conclusion, <u>i.e.</u>, that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. <u>Wilson</u>, at 437; <u>Morris</u>, at 494-95. Otherwise, the case and controversy can only be resolved by trial. <u>Id</u>.

On summary judgment, the moving party has the burden to prove his right to summary judgment irrespective of which party would have the ultimate burden of proof if the case were to go to trial. Preston v. Duncan, 55 Wn.2d 678, 682, 349 P.2d 605 (1960). Furthermore, where the operative or dispositive facts are "particularly with the knowledge" of the moving party, the cause should be allowed to proceed to trial in order that the non-moving party is afforded the opportunity to disprove the movant's facts by way of cross-examination and that party's demeanor of the witness stand before the trier of fact. <u>United States v. Logan Co.</u>, 147 F.Supp. 330 (W.D.Pa. 1957); Felsman v. Kessler, 2 Wn.App. 493, 496-97, 468 P.2d 691 (1970); see also, Subin v. Goldsmith, 224 F.2d 753 (2d Cir. 1955). Similarly, any element of proof concerning a part's veracity, motive, intent, knowledge, or the reasonableness and good faith nature of his actions or conduct are generally understood to lie within this exception to summary judgment. Id.; see also, LaPlante v. State, 85 Wn.2d 154, 159, 531 P.2d 299 (1975); Morris, at 495; Preston, at 682.

Lastly, CR 56© may not be used to try an issue of fact. Thoma v. C. J. Montag & Sons, Inc., 54 Wn.2d 20, 26, 337 P.2d 1052 (1959).

Suffice it to say, conflicting assertions of fact in opposing affidavits will normally give raise to issues of witness credibility and the weight to be

given such contradicting evidence, and goes beyond the proper pale of a summary judgment proceeding and the authority of the trial court. See, Balise v. Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 199-200, 381 P.2d 966 (1963). This consideration also holds true on de novo review by the appellate court. Barker v. Advanced Silicon Materials, LLC., 131 Wn.App. 616, 128 P.3d 633, review denied, 158 Wn.2d 1015 (2006).

2. Standards governing review of denial of post-trial relief [CR] <u>59(b)</u>]. With respect to issue concerning the proper exercise of discretion by the trial court in granting or denying post-trial relief [CR 59(b)], such decision is ultimately examined by the reviewing court for manifest abuse of discretion. See, Weems v. North Franklin School District, 109 Wn.App. 767, 37 P.3d 354 (2002); State v. Dawkins, 71 Wn.App. 902, 863 P.2d 124 (1993). However, errors of law encompassed therein are generally reviewed under the de novo standard. Robinson v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 113 Wn.2d 154, 158, 776 P.2d 676 (1989); Lyster v. Metzger, 68 Wn.2d 216, 226-27, 412 P.2d 340 (1966). In this regard, the superior court abuses its discretion when acting on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons, or has otherwise misinterpreted, misapplied or otherwise ignored the governing law. See, State v. Robinson, 79 Wn.App. 386, 902 P.2d 652 (1995); see also, Pybas v. Paolino, 73 Wn. App. 393, 399, 869 P.2d 427 (1994); In re Marriage of Tang, 57 Wn.App. 648, 654, 789 P.2d 118 (1990).

E. ARGUMENT

<u>Issue no. 1</u> [erroneous rulings on summary judgment]. The appellant, WILL T. PAYNE, submits that, contrary to the rulings of the superior court, the respondents, JOHN "STACY" and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER, husband and wife, cannot and did not effectively establish, by way of any competent, admissible evidence, the claimed unenforceability of the subject contract nor the relevancy of any lack of an acceleration clause in terms of the parties' agreement. Furthermore, under the law identified below and earlier cited in his memorandum in opposition to summary judgment [CP 197-205], Mr. PAYNE continues to maintain that he is so entitled to judgment as a matter of law as against these defendants either on the basis of an enforceable contract which was clearly breached by defendants or, alteratively, on the equitable grounds of equitable estoppel, unjust enrichment, restitution and imposition of constructive trust. Unfortunately, the decisions entered by the trial court deny him any remedy whatsoever including, but not limited to, the return of possession and title to the subject real property by defendants without full compensation to the plaintiff for the same. See, CP 8, 187, 188, 189.

PLAINTIFF'S REMEDIES AT LAW

a. <u>Under governing legal principles</u>, the parties had a binding and <u>enforceable agreement</u>. The gravamen of defendants' motion for summary judgment was based upon their bare, and unsubstantiated, allegations that

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