OCT 28 2015

Court of appeals Division III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

No. 33537-2-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WILL T. PAYNE, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

JOHN "STACY" and SHARIE KAY RUEGSEGGER, Defendants/Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Michael H. Church, WSBA # 24957 Melody D. Farance, WSBA # 34044 Stamper Rubens, P.S. Attorneys for Respondents Ruegsegger 720 West Boone Avenue, #200 Spokane, WA 99201 Telephone: (509) 326-4800

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

Likewise, the Plaintiff argues the parties' "course of dealings" were sufficient to establish that the parties understood their agreement as a viable and binding contract between them. *Appellant's Brief, p. 12*. However, the cases relied on by Plaintiff are, once again, factually distinguishable from this case. For example, in *Geonerco, Inc. v. Grand Ridge Properties IV, LLC,* 146 Wn. App. 459, 191 P.3d 76 (2008), there was no dispute that the REPSA entered into between the parties contained

all essential elements of an enforceable real estate contract. The only dispute was whether the legal description in the REPSA, which was a metes and bounds description, had to be replaced by the final legal description obtained upon plat approval in order to make it an enforceable contract. The court in that case noted that throughout their dealings with each other the parties had always shown the intention to convey the entire tract, and on that basis the REPSA was enforceable. Id. at 467. The plaintiff in Noah v. Montford, 77 Wn.2d 459, 463 P.2d 129 (1969), another case cited by Plaintiff in his opening brief, was a realtor who sought payment of real estate commissions from the defendants. The defendants claimed two of the earnest money agreements obtained by the plaintiff did not describe the property being sold and were, therefore, unenforceable. There were no allegations of any other deficiencies in the essential terms of the earnest money agreements. The court in *Noah* noted that the plaintiff realtor in the case had been expressly authorized to insert the legal description of the properties over the signatures of the parties to the earnest money agreements. Id. at 463. On that basis, the court found the earnest money agreements enforceable and affirmed the trial court's judgment awarding the plaintiff his real estate commission. *Id.*

Likewise, the issue in *Nishikawa v. U.S. Eagle High, LLC*, 138 Wn. App. 841, 158 P.3d 1265 (2007), also cited by Plaintiff, was whether a purchase and sale agreement was legally binding where the agreement

stipulated that the parties' dual agent would add the property's legal description as a contract addendum. No other essential terms of the REPSA were at issue. The court in that case held that the defendant, which backed out of the agreement before the dual agent added the legal description, had contracted away its right to revoke the dual agent's authority to add the legal description. *Id. at 845*. Accordingly, the court found the purchase and sale agreement was valid and binding under the statute of frauds. *Id*.

None of the cases cited by the Plaintiff are factually similar to this case, where the writing in questions is missing several of the elements of a valid and enforceable contract for the purchase and sale of real estate. Thus, the concepts and cases cited by the Plaintiff do not apply to the circumstances present here.

2. The concepts of full integration, the parol evidence rule, and ambiguity in a contract are not relevant to the issues present in this case. The Plaintiff also fails to cite to any evidence in the record to establish the Addendum was supported by adequate consideration.

Next, the Plaintiff argues that the parties' agreement was "fully integrated" and cites to case law addressing the parol evidence rule. However, the Plaintiff's arguments and the case law he cites to are simply not applicable to this case, as the question of whether parol evidence modifies or contradicts the terms of the Addendum is not an issue in this case. The Plaintiff then refers to Washington law providing that any

ambiguity in a contract must be construed against the drafter. But for this principle to apply, there must first be an ambiguity, and Plaintiff has failed to point to any ambiguity in the Addendum. Furthermore, the relevant inquiry here is not whether the provisions of the Addendum are ambiguous, but rather, whether the Addendum contains the provisions required by Washington law for a valid and enforceable contract for the purchase and sale of real estate.

The Plaintiff then, once again, raises the issue of whether there was consideration for the sale of the Plaintiff's property to the Ruegseggers, and concludes "there is no question that there was bargained-for consideration as between the parties in exchange for the sale and purchase of the subject real estate." *Appellant's Brief, p. 15.* Aside from citing to various cases on the issue of consideration, however, the Plaintiff fails to mention *what* the bargained-for consideration is or where reference to the consideration may be found in the Addendum. As explained in Section III. A.1 above, this argument fails as well.

3. Plaintiff's discussions on illusory contracts and lack of consideration do not relate to the issues in this case.

Plaintiff then moves on to discuss the concepts of illusory contracts, and the unenforceability of contracts for lack of consideration. Again, these arguments have no specific relevance to the issues presented by the Defendants' *Motion for Summary Judgment (CP 54-66)* and

whether the trial court correctly found that the Addendum was unenforceable.¹

4. The implied duty of good faith and fair dealing is applicable only to an enforceable contract.

Plaintiff also accuses the Ruegseggers of violating their implied duty of good faith and fair dealing. This argument fails because the concept relates only to situations in which an enforceable contract exists. The trial court correctly determined that the Addendum was not an enforceable contract for the purchase and sale of property, so this argument simply does not apply.

5. The Ruegseggers could not have breached a contract that is unenforceable.

In a weak attempt to turn the tables, Plaintiff also accuses the Ruegseggers of having breached a contract with him. *Appellant's Brief, pp. 16-17.* Of course, the Defendants cannot have breached a contract that was unenforceable in the first place, as the trial court correctly established. Thus, Plaintiff's argument in that regard is unavailing.

6. There is no legal support for Plaintiff's claim that Defendants' supposed repudiation of the contract entitles him to accelerate the amount claimed due.

¹ In fact, the case law cited by the Plaintiff in his Brief generally supports the trial court's finding that the Addendum was unenforceable "because, by its very terms or lack thereof, it is without any degree of certainty as to the consideration being given and the rights of the parties thereunder." *Quadrant Corp. v. American States Ins.*, 154 Wn.2d 165, 187-85, 110 P.3d 773 (2005).

In response to the issue of whether the lack of an acceleration clause renders the Plaintiff's claim unripe the Plaintiff makes the rather fanciful argument that the Defendants "repudiated" the contract and the Plaintiff is thus entitled to accelerate the remaining unpaid balance, despite the absence of an acceleration clause. Appellant's Brief, p. 17. The case law cited in support of Plaintiff's argument, however, is inapposite. The case of CKP, Inc. v. GRS Const. Co., 63 Wn. App. 601, 821 P.2d 63 (1991) did not involve claims for damages for non-payment of an amount claimed due. Instead, that case established that repudiation of a contract by one party is viewed as a breach excusing the other party from performance. Id., at 620 (holding that where a general contractor repeatedly threatened to withhold payment to a subcontractor unless the subcontractor agreed to sign a contract modification, the subcontractor was justified in walking off the job). Likewise, there was no acceleration clause at issue in the other case cited by Plaintiff, Crown Plaza v. Synapse Software, 87 Wn. App. 495, 503, 962 P.2d 824 (1997) (holding there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether a lessee breached the original lease or was merely carrying out the terms of an oral agreement for early termination).

Established Washington case law *does* say, however, that it is error to enter a judgment for payments that have not accrued at the time of entry of judgment, where the agreement providing for payments does not

contain an acceleration clause. *Myers v. Western Farmers Ass'n.*, 75 Wn.2d 133, 136, 449 P.2d 104 (1969). Plaintiff's attempts to persuade the trial court otherwise were unavailing, and the trial court correctly held that the lack of an acceleration clause in the Addendum was fatal to Plaintiff's claim. *RP 4*.

D. Denial of Plaintiff's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment was appropriate because Plaintiff failed to plead equitable claims in his Complaint.

Pleadings are primarily intended to give notice to the court and to the opposing party of the general nature of the claims asserted. *Dumas v. Gagner*, 137 Wn.2d 268, 282, 971 P.2d 17 (1999). However, even Washington's liberal rules of pleading require a plaintiff to include direct allegations in his complaint sufficient to give notice to the court and the defendant of the nature of the plaintiff's claims. *Berge v. Gorton,* 88 Wn. 2d 756, 762, 567 P.2d 187 (1977). A pleading is insufficient when it does not give the opposing party fair notice of what the claims are and the grounds upon which they rest. *Lewis v. Bell,* 45 Wn. App. 192, 197, 724 P.2d 425 (1986). "A party who does not plead a cause of action or theory of recovery cannot finesse the issue by later inserting the theory into trial briefs and contending it was the case all along. *Dewey v. Tacoma School Dist. No. 10,* 95 Wn. App. 18, 26, 974 P.2d 847 (1999). *See Shanahan v. City of Chicago,* 82 F.3d 776, 781 (7th Cir.1996) ("a plaintiff may not

amend his complaint through arguments in his brief in opposition to a motion for summary judgment.").

Plaintiff filed a "Complaint for Monies Owed" in this case. His sole claim was for damages for the amount alleged to be owing to him under the Addendum. He made no equitable claims of any sort in his Complaint. CP 3-8. He never attempted to amend his Complaint to assert any equitable claims.

Despite this fact, the Plaintiff asserted his right to summary judgment under the equitable theories of estoppel, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust. These equitable arguments were raised for the first time in his Memorandum In Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment and in Support of Plaintiff's Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment. CP 203-20.

The trial court, however, correctly noted that Plaintiff's equitable theories of recovery had not been pled in his Complaint. *CP 228*. Denial of Plaintiff's *Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment* was, therefore, appropriate.

E. Even if Plaintiff had adequately pled equitable theories of recovery, he failed to make any meaningful argument in that regard.

It is well-settled in Washington that an appellant must provide "argument in support of the issues presented for review, together with citations to legal authority and references to relevant parts of the record."

RAP 10.3(a)(6). Arguments not supported by any reference to the record or by citation to authority need not be considered. *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, 118 Wn.2d 801, 809, 828 P.2d 549 (1992).

As noted above, the Plaintiff argued in his *Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment*, that he was entitled to relief under the equitable theories of estoppel, unjust enrichment/restitution, and constructive trust. However, he failed to make any meaningful argument in support of those claims. *CP 203-208-*. He similarly fails to provide meaningful argument on appeal.

For example, with regard to the claim for equitable estoppel, the Plaintiff cites to several cases concerning the theory of equitable estoppel, but never analyzes how those cases apply to his cases by referencing the record. Instead, he merely asserts there was evidence establishing each of the elements of equitable estoppel in his "CR 56 Statement of Undisputed Facts." *Appellant's Brief, p. 19.* But, no such statement was ever filed with the trial court.

Likewise, Plaintiff argues that the equitable grounds of unjust enrichment and restitution entitle him to recovery, and then cites several cases discussing various concepts under those equitable theories. But, instead of analyzing how those concepts apply to his case, and pointing to facts in the record that support the required elements of a claim for unjust

enrichment and/or restitution, the Plaintiff merely concludes it would be "inequitable or 'unjust' for [the Ruegseggers] to be allowed to retain the [property] without either payment and compensation or the return of the real property to the claimant." *Appellant's Brief, pp. 19-20*.

The Plaintiff also argues he is entitled to a constructive trust on the property. After citing to cases addressing the equitable remedy of constructive trust, the Plaintiff fails to analyze how the case law applies to the facts of the case and makes no reference to facts contained in the records. He simply concludes ". . . the law governing this case should require the imposition of a constructive trust against the defendants." *Appellant's Brief, p. 21*.

Clearly, the Plaintiff made no meaningful arguments in support of his claims for equitable relief, either at the trial court level or in this appeal. Therefore, pursuant to *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley*, cited above, this Court should disregard the Plaintiffs' claims for equitable relief.

F. Plaintiff's new arguments on "inherent right of judicial review" were not raised at the trial court level and should not be considered on appeal.

Finally, Plaintiff argues the Washington judiciary has "the inherent authority to protect individual citizens from injury caused by the arbitratory and capricious conduct of others and are thus vested with the

power to create a remedy even where one might not otherwise exist." *Appellant's Brief, p. 22.* In support of that argument, the Plaintiff cites to a case addressing whether the court had an inherent right of judicial review of an administrative agency's decisions (*Williams v. Seattle Sch. Distr.*, 97 Wn.2d 215, 222, 643, P.2d 426 (1982)), and the Washington State and United States Constitutions.

The Plaintiff then claims:

Thus, given the identified injustices in this case, the superior court should have afforded [the Plaintiff] with some form of remedy so that the respondents were not allowed to have both title and possession to [the Plaintiff's] property without providing, in turn, some form of consideration or remuneration for such benefit. (Citation omitted.) At a minimum, the superior court should have returned the parties to their original positions before the contract, which the court did not do.

Appellant's Brief, pp. 22-23. This argument was not raised in the trial court by the Plaintiff, either in connection with the motions for summary judgment or upon reconsideration.

RAP 2.5(a) states: "Errors Raised for the First Time on Review. The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court." The rule goes on to provide several exceptions to this general rule, none of which apply here. It has been said that an "important factor" in implementing RAP 2.5(a) is "the consideration that the opposing parties should have an opportunity at trial to respond to

possible claims of error, and to shape their cases to issues and theories, at the trial level, rather than facing newly-asserted errors or new theories and issues for the first time on appeal." 2A Wash. Prac., Rules Practice RAP 2.5 (7th ed.).

Because the Plaintiff failed to raise this last argument at the trial court level (or to provide any meaningful argument or citation to authority or the record, pursuant to *Cowiche Canyon Conservancy v. Bosley* in this appeal), the Court should not consider the argument on appeal.

G. The trial court properly denied the Plaintiff's Motion for Reconsideration, as he failed to establish any of the grounds upon which reconsideration is warranted under CR 59.

CR 59 (a) states:

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